No.		

# In the Supreme Court of California

Even Zohar Construction & Remodeling, Inc.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

SUPREME COURT

Bellaire Townhouses, LLC, et al.,

MAY 17 2013

Defendants and Respondents.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Deputy

From A Published Opinion Reversing An Order Vacating
Defaults And A Default Judgment
Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four, No. B239928

Appeal From An Order Vacating Defaults And A Default Judgment Los Angeles Superior Court, No. BC458347 The Honorable Ralph Dau

#### **ISSUE**

When a defendant has previously but unsuccessfully moved to vacate a default or default judgment under section 473(b) but files a subsequent and proper motion for mandatory relief from the default or default judgment under section 473(b) based on his or her

attorney's admission of fault and does not present new or different facts, circumstances, or law under section 1008(b):

- must the trial court grant that motion, as the Sixth District held in *Standard Microsystems Corp.*, v. Winbond Electronics Corp., 179 Cal.App.4th 868 (2009)?
- or must the court deny that motion, as the Second District, Division Four here held, disagreeing with and refusing to follow Standard Microsystems?

#### III.

#### **BACKGROUND**

Defendants adopt the Court of Appeal's recitation of the factual and procedural background. (See Opn. 3-13) We briefly summarize that background below.

Defendants filed two motions for mandatory relief from default under section 473(b) based on attorney fault. They accompanied the first motion with a declaration by their attorney, Daniel Gibalevich, who expressly admitted fault (characterized as "excusable neglect"), attributing it largely to unexplained personal and professional omissions. (Opn. 4) The trial court denied that motion. (Opn. 6) (We discuss the motion and ruling in greater detail, *post*.)

Defendants accompanied their second motion with another declaration by Gibalevich in which Gibalevich again expressly admitted his fault. (Opn. 7-8) This time, he did not characterize his neglect as "excusable," and but explained his personal and professional omissions:

On August 25, 2011, investigators with the Los Angeles District Attorney's office served [a] search warrant ... at my office .... The investigation focused on medical providers and not on me or my practice.... [O]ne of my associates, Mr. Savransky, resigned his position right after the search. That left me and Ms. Gina Akselrud as [the] only attorneys [in my office]...

In my effort to secure the return of my client files, I engaged Mr. Shkolnikov, a criminal defense attorney. I volunteered to assist him in his research and drafting efforts....

... I spent all of my time on efforts to return my client's files. I researched and wrote many drafts of the motions that were filed. This consumed me. I was working on this most of the day, every day. When I wasn't in front of the computer, I thought of nothing else.

I began to obsess over my reputation and the disclosures that I had to make to Judges and opposing counsel alike [about the search].... I have to confess that this feeling of embarrassment is the reason why I failed to set out these facts in the declaration previously filed. I will never forget that day or the hell that followed.... I did experience a period of time, from middle of September through October of 2011, where I stayed away from the office, for days at a time.... I was ashamed and embarrassed. I was embarrassed in front of my employees, opposing counsel and judges that I had to face. This feeling of embarrassment is still with me.

Due to my frequent absences, my state of mind and obsession with getting my client files back, I neglected this matter. I failed to enter a responsive pleading and did not respond to [plaintiff's] emails notifying me of the default. Since the responsive pleading was never entered, defaults and default judgments were taken against my clients, the Defendants.

Had I filed the responsive pleading on time, prior to defaults being taken, the defaults and default judgments would have been avoided. It is clear that my mistake, inadvertence and neglect resulted in the entry

of defaults and default judgments against my clients, the Defendants herein.

Id. (boldface and ital. omitted). The trial court granted this motion. (Opn. 12) It concluded that, under Standard Microsystems, section 473(b) prevails over section 1008(b), and stated that "[t]he legislature has determined that even in cases involving conduct such as that demonstrated by attorney Gibalevich, where no part of the fault is shown to be attributable to the defendant clients, relief is mandatory." (Opn. 13) (We also discuss this motion and ruling in greater detail, post.)

EZ appealed the order vacating the defaults and default judgment. (Opn. 13) The Court of Appeal reversed, holding that section 1008(b) prevails over section 473(b). Thus, it held, under section 1008(e), because neither defendants nor Gibalevich presented new or different facts, circumstances, or law under section 1008(b), the trial court lacked jurisdiction to grant the motion. (Opn. 16, 19-22)

#### IV.

# REVIEW IS NEEDED TO RESOLVE THE CONFLICT BETWEEN STANDARD MICROSYSTEMS AND THE OPINION BELOW ON THE INTERPLAY BETWEEN SECTIONS 473(b) AND 1008(b)

Section 473(b) permits a court, "upon any terms as may be just," to relieve a party from a default, default judgment, or dismissal "taken against him or her through his or her mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect." But section 473(b) requires a court to grant relief from a default, default judgment, or dismissal in cases of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or neglect by the party's attorney, as follows:

Notwithstanding any other requirements of this section, the court shall, whenever an application for relief is made no more than six months after entry of judgment, is in proper form, and is accompanied by an attorney's sworn affidavit attesting to his or her mistake, surprise, neglect, vacate inadvertence, or (1) resulting default entered by the clerk against his or her client, and which will result in entry of a default judgment, or (2) resulting default judgment or dismissal entered against his or her client, unless the court finds that the default or dismissal was not in fact caused by the attorney's mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or neglect.

Id. Section 473(b) goes on to state that, "whenever relief is granted based on an attorney's affidavit of fault," "[t]he court shall ... direct the attorney to pay reasonable compensatory legal fees and costs to opposing counsel or parties." 1

On the other hand, section 1008(b) permits a party "who originally made an application for an order which was refused in whole or part, or granted conditionally or on terms," to "make a subsequent application for the same order" only upon a showing of

Section 473 contains other conditions relevant to the grant of mandatory relief based on attorney fault. Section 473(c) states:

<sup>(1)</sup> Whenever the court grants relief from a default, default judgment, or dismissal based on any of the provisions of this section, the court may do any of the following:

<sup>(</sup>A) Impose a penalty of no greater than one thousand dollars (\$1,000) upon an offending attorney or party.

<sup>(</sup>B) Direct that an offending attorney pay an amount no greater than one thousand dollars (\$1,000) to the State Bar Client Security Fund.

<sup>(</sup>C) Grant other relief as is appropriate.

<sup>(2)</sup> However, where the court grants relief from a default or default judgment pursuant to this section based upon the affidavit of the defaulting party's attorney attesting to the attorney's mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or neglect, the relief shall not be made conditional upon the attorney's payment of compensatory legal fees or costs or monetary penalties imposed by the court or upon compliance with other sanctions ordered by the court.

"new or different facts, circumstances, or law, in which case it shall be shown by affidavit what application was made before, when and to what judge, what order or decisions were made, and what new or different facts, circumstances, or law are claimed to be shown."

Section 1008(e) deprives the court of jurisdiction to grant such a renewed motion without the requisite new or different facts, circumstances, or law: "This section specifies the court's jurisdiction with regard to applications for ... renewals of previous motions, and applies to all applications ... for the renewal of a previous motion, whether the order deciding the ... motion is interim or final. No application ... for the renewal of a previous motion may be considered by any judge or court unless made according to this section."

Given these two statutes, when a party has unsuccessfully moved to vacate a default or default judgment under section 473(b), may a court nevertheless grant relief when the party again moves for mandatory relief based on an admission of attorney fault even though the party does not present new or different facts, circumstances, or law, as section 1008(b) requires? In other words, in such a situation, does section 473(b) prevail over section 1008(b) or does section 1008(b) prevail over section 473(b)?

The Court of Appeal's opinion here creates a direct conflict with *Standard Microsystems* in the answer to that question. *Standard Microsystems* holds that section 473(b) prevails over

section 1008(b). But the Court of Appeal here holds that section 1008(b) prevails over section 473(b).

Which statute prevails presents an important question worthy of review. For one thing, litigants frequently invoke sections 473(b) and 1008(b) in the trial courts, and those statutes are frequently discussed in Court of Appeal opinions. According to Westlaw, some 40 published opinions have cited section 1008(b) in its present form, while some 165 published opinions have cited section 473(b) in its present form. Consequently, any conflict, like the one between Standard Microsystems and the opinion of the Court of Appeal below, threatens substantial mischief as courts and litigants are forced to guess which statute governs. And should that guess prove wrong in a court that believes section 1008(b) governs, a litigant faces sanctions and punishment by contempt under section 1008(d). To avoid such results, this Court should intervene.

Considerations of public policy confirm the need for review. Section 473(b)'s mandatory relief is intended to relieve the innocent client of the consequences of its attorney's fault, to place the burden on the errant attorney rather than the defaulted client, to discourage additional litigation in the form of malpractice actions by the client against the attorney, and to thereby permit the client to have its day in court and a decision on the merits. Section 1008(b)'s purpose is to reduce the number of renewal motions and thus conserve judicial resources. Each of these policies is strong. Each, however, is in

tension with the other, one potentially favoring litigants over courts, the other potentially favoring courts over litigants.

At the time *Standard Microsystems* was decided, only three other published opinions had addressed the interplay between section 473(b) and 1008(b) as to mandatory relief from default based on attorney neglect—*Gilberd v. AC Transit*, 32 Cal.App.4th 1494 (1995); *Lee v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 88 Cal.App.4th 1187 (2001); and *Wozniak v. Lucutz*, 102 Cal.App.4th 1031 (2002), *disapproved on another point in Le Francois v. Goel*, 35 Cal.4th 1094, 1107 n.5 (2005). With minimal analysis, *Gilberd* expressed the view that that section 1008(b) prevailed over 473(b), stating only that to hold otherwise would "undermine the intent of the Legislature as specifically expressed in section 1008, subdivision (e) ...." *Gilberd*, 32 Cal.App.4th at 1501. With similarly minimal analysis, and without addressing *Gilberd*, *Lee* and *Wozniak* expressed the opposite view. *Lee*, 88 Cal.App.4th at 1191 n.6; *Wozniak*, 102 Cal.App.4th at 1043.

With the publication of the Court of Appeal's opinion here—and its several-paragraph explanation of why it disagrees with *Standard Microsystems*—there is now a direct and irreconcilable conflict among the courts of appeal. This Court should resolve that conflict and settle the important question as to which statute prevails over which.

In the sections that follow, we explore both court of appeal decisions and explain why this Court should grant review and resolve the conflict in favor of *Standard Microsystems*. Well-settled rules of statutory construction establish that section 473(b) prevails over section 1008(b): the former is remedial and more specific, whereas the latter effects a procedural forfeiture and is more general. Public policy confirms that conclusion: even though the policy of ensuring a litigant its day in court and a decision on the merits and the policy of conserving judicial resources are each strong, the latter should yield to the former, since courts exist for litigants, and not the other way around.

### A. Standard Microsystems And The Court Of Appeal Opinion Here Conflict On The Interplay Between Sections 473(b) And 1008(b)

#### 1. Section 473(b)

Section 473(b) is comprehensive in its scope, broadly covering relief from default based on attorney fault in "[a]ll civil actions and special proceedings, including summary proceedings," in "all trial courts." 8 Bernard E. Witkin, *California Procedure* Attack on Judgment in Trial Court § 145(1), (3) (5th ed. 2008) (Westlaw).

Before 1988, section 473(b) permitted a court to grant a party relief from default only if any fault by the party's attorney was excusable. E.g., Metropolitan Service Corp. v. Casa de Palms, Ltd., 31 Cal.App.4th 1481, 1486-87 (1995); Beeman v. Burling,

216 Cal.App.3d 1586, 1602 (1990). The statute prohibited the court from granting relief from default if such attorney fault was *inexcusable*. Rather, "[t]he attorney's inexcusable neglect was traditionally imputed to the client, whose redress was a malpractice action against the attorney." *Metropolitan Service Corp.*, 31 Cal.App.4th at 1487.

With the enactment of the mandatory relief provisions in 1988, however, an "entirely different standard" was created. Id. Those provisions "require the court to grant relief if the attorney admits neglect, even if the neglect was inexcusable. [Citations.] The purpose of this law is to relieve the innocent client of the burden of the attorney's fault, to impose the burden on the erring attorney, and to avoid precipitating more litigation in the form of malpractice suits. [Citation.]" Id. (ital. orig.). More broadly, the law's purpose is to permit the client to have its day in court and obtain a decision on the merits. See, e.g., Zamora v. Clayborn Contracting Group, Inc., 28 Cal.4th 249, 256 (2002) (section 473(b)) is "'to be liberally construed and sound policy favors the determination of actions on their merits'"); Elston v. City of Turlock, 38 Cal.3d 227, 233 (1985) ("because the law strongly favors trial and disposition on the merits, any doubts in applying" section 473(b) "must be resolved in favor of the party seeking relief from default"); accord Maynard v. Brandon, 36 Cal.4th 364, 371-72 (2005).

Three years later, in 1991, the Legislature modified section 473(b)'s timeliness/diligence requirement. Stats. 1991, ch. 1003, § 1. While the 1988 version required a "timely" application for mandatory relief, which was construed to incorporate a diligence requirement, *Billings v. Health Plan of America*, 225 Cal.App.3d 250, 258 (1990), the 1991 version required—and still requires—only that the application be made within six months after entry of judgment. *Metropolitan Service Corp.*, 31 Cal.App.4th at 1487; *Douglas v. Willis*, 27 Cal.App.4th 287, 292 (1994).

Specifically, section 473(b) provides that, "even if the [attorney] neglect was inexcusable," the trial court must grant relief from default so long as the application for relief complies with the conditions specified, Metropolitan Service Corp., 31 Cal.App.4th at 1487—or, more accurately, so long as the application complies with the conditions at least "substantially," Carmel, Ltd. v. Tavoussi, 175 Cal. App. 4th 393, 396 (2009). To quote section 473(b), the court "shall" grant relief from default or a default judgment "whenever an application for relief [1] is made no more than six months after entry of judgment, [2] is in proper form, and [3] is accompanied by an attorney's sworn affidavit attesting to his or her Section 473(b) specifies a single (Ital. added). ... neglect." exception: relief is required "unless the court finds that the default ... was not in fact caused by the attorney's ... neglect."

Section 473(b) is a "remedial statute." People ex rel. Reisig v. Broderick Boys, 149 Cal.App.4th 1506, 1517 (2007); accord

Fasuyi v. Permatex, Inc., 167 Cal. App. 4th 681, 698 (2008). It aims to avoid procedural forfeiture and to permit a client, as stated, to have its day in court and obtain a decision on the merits.

#### 2. Section 1008(b)

In 1992, the Legislature amended section 1008, making it applicable to "all" "application[s] ... for the renewal of a previous motion," specifying "the court's jurisdiction with regard to [such] applications," and declaring that "[n]o [such] application ... may be considered by any judge or court unless made according to this section." Stats. 1992, ch. 460, § 4 (quoting § 1008(e)). "Before these changes," section 1008 "'purported to be neither jurisdictional nor exclusive.'" *Le Francois*, 35 Cal.4th at 1099. Afterwards, it purported to be both. *See id*.

The Legislature's purpose in amending section 1008(b) into its present form was "'to reduce the number of ... renewals of previous motions heard by judges in this state' " in order "'to conserve the court's resources by constraining litigants who would attempt to bring the same motion over and over.' " *Id.* at 1098, 1100.

By limiting a party's ability to complain of error and restricting the jurisdiction of a court to correct it, section 1008(b) "'effect[s] ... procedural forfeiture.'" *California Correctional Peace Officers Assn. v. Virga*, 181 Cal.App.4th 30, 48 (2010) (ital. omitted). By doing so, the statute is thus in derogation of the

"'strong public policy' "that "seeks to dispose of litigation on the merits rather than on procedural grounds." Barrington v. A. H. Robins Co., 39 Cal.3d 146, 152 (1985).

- B. Standard Microsystems Properly Construes, While The Court Of Appeal Opinion Here Erroneously Construes, The Interplay Between Sections 473(b) And 1008(b)
  - 1. Standard Microsystems Holds That Section 473(b) Prevails Over Section 1008(b)

In *Standard Microsystems*, two clients failed to respond to a complaint based on their attorney's advice, which proved erroneous, that the complaint's service was ineffective. 179 Cal.App.4th at 874-76, 880. After defaults were entered against the clients, they unsuccessfully moved for discretionary relief from default under section 473(b), arguing the attorney's excusable neglect. *Id.* at 877-79. The trial court denied the motion and entered a default judgment. *Id.* The clients then discharged their attorney, retained a new one, and moved for mandatory relief from the defaults and the default judgment based on their former attorney's inexcusable neglect, with that attorney filing a declaration attesting to his inexcusable neglect. *Id.* at 879-80. The trial court denied the motion on the ground, among others, that it was an improper motion for reconsideration. *Id.* at 884.

The Sixth District reversed. *Id.* at 873, 908. First, it concluded that the motion for mandatory relief was not an application for reconsideration of their motion for discretionary

relief because it "did not ask the court to reconsider its previous order"—it rested on a different theory and ground (inexcusable rather than excusable neglect) and relied on different facts (that the neglect was inexcusable). *Id.* at 891. Second, the court stated it was reluctant to find that the mandatory relief motion was an application to renew the discretionary relief motion under section 1008(b)—i.e., sought the "same order" as the earlier motion—because it rested on a different theory and ground and sought different relief (i.e., vacation of the default judgment as well as the defaults). *Id.* at 891-93.

Third, it concluded that even if the mandatory relief motion was an application to renew the discretionary relief motion under section 1008(b), it would not matter, since in the case of conflict, section 473(b) prevails over section 1008(b). *Id.* at 893-96; *see id.* at 893 ("Even if section 1008 applied by its terms to defendants' second motion—or that motion could on some other coherent rationale be held to come within the statute's scope—we would decline to attribute to the statute a legislative intention to bar the operation, under the circumstances shown here, of the mandatory relief provisions of section 473(b).").

As to this last point, *Standard Microsystems* held that "[i]nsofar as ... a conflict actually exists, it must be resolved in favor of allowing relief under section 473(b), not denying it under section 1008." *Id.* at 894. Section 1008(b), the court said, "inflicts a procedural forfeiture, such that uncertainties should be resolved

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