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

ARGUMENT

- I. REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED BECAUSE THERE IS NO ACTUAL CONFLICT BETWEEN THE COURT OF APPEAL'S HOLDING IN THIS CASE AND STANDARD MICROSYSTEMS
 - A. Standard Microsystems Did Not Involve A Renewed Motion Seeking Identical Relief On The Same Grounds

Defendants principally argue that review is necessary because the decisions of the Court of Appeal in this case and in *Standard Microsystems* are in "direct and irreconcilable" conflict regarding the "interplay" of sections 473(b) and 1008(b). (Pet. 8, 20-21.) While the Court of Appeal certainly disagreed with and declined to follow *Standard* Microsystems,

there is no fundamental conflict between the two decisions. To the contrary, the decisions are reconcilable and can be applied consistently.

In Standard Microsystems, two foreign corporations were served with a complaint by mail. 179 Cal.App.4th at 874. Their attorney advised them (incorrectly) that service was ineffective. Id. They did not respond to the complaint, and the clerk entered their defaults. Id. at 874-76. The defendants then filed a motion for discretionary relief from the entry of such defaults by the clerk under the "client fault" provisions of section 473(b). Id. at 873, 877-79. The court denied that motion and entered a default judgment. Id. at 879-80.

Retaining new counsel, the defendants then moved for *mandatory* relief under the "attorney fault" provisions of section 473(b) not only from the clerk's entry of the defaults, but also from the default judgment entered by the trial court. Id. at 873, 880-84. The trial court denied that motion, holding that the defendants' showing under section 473(b) was insufficient because their conduct had been deliberate. Id. at 884. It also found that the motion was an improper motion for reconsideration of the trial court's previous denial of the motion for relief from the clerk's entry of defaults, and that such circumstance afforded an additional ground on which the defendants' second motion should be denied. Id.

The Sixth Appellate District reversed. It first held that "the undisputed facts plainly established the attorney fault necessary to trigger a

right to mandatory relief" under section 473(b). *Id.* at 873. The court also concluded that defendants' second motion for relief was not a motion for reconsideration governed by subdivision (a) of section 1008 because it did not seek to modify or set aside the court's previous order. *Id.* at 891.

In the portion of its opinion at issue here, the *Standard Microsystems* court then assumed, without deciding, that the defendants' second motion *may have been* a renewed motion *in part*, but that if it were, section 1008, subdivision (b), would not have prevented the trial court from considering it:

We conclude that assuming the second motion was a renewal of the first motion insofar as it sought relief from the underlying *default*, it was not barred by that fact, in whole or part, because the relief thus sought was ancillary to, and would be necessary to carry into effect, the order vacating the *judgment*, which was subject to no such constraint.

Id. at 893 (emphasis added).

Put another way, in its alternative holding, the Standard

Microsystems' court ruled that because the defendants' second motion

principally requested relief they had not sought before at all (relief from the default judgment entered by the court), and relief based on a provision of section 473 they had not invoked in the earlier motion at all (the statute's attorney fault provisions), the trial court should not have denied the defendants' second motion under section 1008(b). The Standard

Microsystems court "emphatically reject[ed] the proposition that a motion

seeking a previously denied order in addition to newly requested relief is thereby entirely barred, as if its repetitive aspect somehow tainted the whole." Id. at 892 (emphasis original). It also "assum[ed] the statute means what it says, at least to the extent that insofar as two motions do not seek the 'same order,' the second one is not subject to section 1008(b)." Id. (emphasis original).

As defendants concede (see Pet. 16), the Standard Microsystems court even "was reluctant to find that the mandatory relief motion was an application to renew the discretionary relief motion under section 1008(b)—i.e, sought the "same order" as the earlier motion—because it rested on a different theory and ground and sought different relief (i.e., vacation of the default judgment as well as the defaults)." (Pet. 16 [citing Standard Microsystems, 179 Cal.App.4th at 891-93].) As the court stated, "[w]e hesitate to finally so conclude, however, for insofar as the two motions rested on entirely distinct factual and legal predicates, we find in the phrase 'same order,' as used to define the sweep of section 1008(b), a latent ambiguity." Standard Microsystems, 179 Cal.App.4th at 891.

The instant case stands in stark contrast to Standard Microsystems.

By their second motion to the trial court here defendants themselves stated that they were seeking "an order that was exactly the same as the one requested in the first motion to vacate the default and default

judgment." (3AA-541:10-11 (emphasis added).)³ Moreover, unlike the defendants in *Standard Microsystems*, Bellaire and Fersht's second motion was also based on the same legal theory and statutory predicate they had advanced in their first motion. (*Compare* 1AA-180-185 with 2AA-342-349.) In short, defendants' second motion indisputably was a *full* renewed motion governed by section 1008(b).⁴

This very scenario was expressly carved out of the ambit of the alternative holding in Standard Microsystems:

We observe that this is not a case where a party invokes the mandatory provisions of section 473(b) unsuccessfully, and then seeks to invoke them again.

179 Cal.App.4th at 895.⁵ Thus, the *very* question the Court of Appeal resolved here—whether section 1008 applies "where a party invokes the mandatory provisions of section 473(b) unsuccessfully, and then seeks to invoke them again"—was expressly *not* decided by *Standard Microsystems*.

Conversely, the Court of Appeal in the instant case did *not* address the question resolved in *Standard Microsystems*, namely, whether "a

³ At the hearing, Mr. Gibalevich readily admitted "a renewed motion [] is one that's seeking exactly the same relief as was sought in the original motion, and that's exactly what were talking about here..." (RT-C-2:9-12.)

⁴ In fact, defendants labeled their second motion as a "Renewed Motion (C.C.P. 1008(b)) For Mandatory Relief Under C.C.P. 473(b)" (2AA-358) and claimed they had complied with section 1008(b) (2AA-540:26-541:19). (See also Slip. Op. 9, n.4.)

⁵ The court in *Standard Microsystems* also distinguished the case before it from cases—like the instant one—involving applications "forthrightly labeled" as repeat motions. 179 Cal.App.4th at 888.

motion seeking a previously denied order in addition to newly requested relief is thereby entirely barred, as if its repetitive aspect somehow tainted the whole."

Furthermore, the court in *Standard Microsystems* made it abundantly clear that the character of the second motion in the case before it being, at most, only a "partial" renewal motion was integral to its holding. First, it framed the issue it was resolving as follows:

Assuming (without deciding) that defendants' second motion sought the "same order" as the first *in part*, the question becomes what effect such overlap should have.

179 Cal.App.4th at 892 (emphasis original).

The Standard Microsystems decision was also clearly driven in large measure by the potential anomalies that could result if, in view of the partial nature of the renewed motion, the defendants were permitted to seek vacation of the judgment (because they had not sought that relief in the first motion) but could not seek relief from the underlying defaults (because that relief had been sought before):

If the judgment were vacated because defendants had shown an entitlement to relief, but the default were deemed beyond relief under section 1008(b), the injunction—currently operating in plaintiff's favor—would cease to have effect. Plaintiff of course could apply for another judgment, but if defendants remained in default, they would be barred from contesting it. Any ensuing judgment would thus continue to be marred by whatever cause had placed them in default in the first place. Since we would have already held that cause sufficient to sustain mandatory relief under section 473(b), defendants would seemingly be entitled, once again, to vacate

any new judgment. Thus an order vacating the judgment, but leaving defendants in default, would effectively prevent *either* party from advancing its own position, or the lawsuit.

Id. at 893 (emphasis original).

The court determined that because of these "absurd" potential results that might ensue from such an application of section 1008, the statute should not be literally applied to the aspect of the second motion in that case seeking as a collateral matter relief from the underlying *defaults*, because to do so would prevent the court from addressing the thrust and principal object of the motion, *i.e.*, seeking relief from the *judgment*, which had not been previously sought and was not a renewal of the earlier motion at all:

Although the later motion may have been, in part, a renewal of the first motion within the terms of section 1008, the relief that made it so was ancillary to, and necessary to effectuate, the greater object of the second motion, which neither sought reconsideration nor the issuance of an order the court had previously declined to grant.

Id. at 873.

Again, since the instant case involves a full renewal motion, it is not only plainly distinguishable from *Standard Microsystems*, but there was and is no potential for the absurdities of the sort that could have resulted in *Standard Microsystems* from the application of section 1008 to only part of the second motion filed in that case.

B. The Court Of Appeal Did *Not* Hold That "Section 1008(b) Prevails Over Section 473(b)"

Defendants contend "Standard Microsystems holds that "section 473(b) prevails over section 1008" and that the Court of Appeal here held exactly the opposite, i.e., that "section 1008(b) prevails over section 473(b)." (Pet. 5, 8-9.) Defendants' characterizations are not accurate, and their effort to manufacture a conflict between the two cases is unavailing.

The essential holding of *Standard Microsystems* was not that "section 473(b) prevails over section 1008." Rather, the court held that, assuming the second motion could be deemed a renewal of the first motion in part given the partial overlap of the two motions, the second motion was not barred by section 1008. The *Standard Microsystems* court did conclude that "to the extent a literal application of section 1008 might conflict with the provisions of section 473(b), the latter must prevail." 179 Cal.App.4th at 873 (emphasis added). But that aspect of the court's opinion and the analysis leading to its conclusion were dicta.

⁶ That the Standard Microsystems' consideration of the potential conflict between sections 1008 and 473(b) was dicta is made clear from the outset of the court's analysis:

Even if section 1008 applied by its terms to defendants' second motion—or that motion could on some other coherent rationale be held to come within the statute's scope—we would decline to attribute to the statute a legislative intention to bar the operation, under the circumstances shown here, of the mandatory relief provisions of section 473(b).

¹⁷⁹ Cal. App. 4th at 893 (emphasis added).

Defendants' repeated assertion that the Court of Appeal in this case held that "section 1008(b) prevails over section 473(b)" [see Pet. 5, 9] is also not accurate. The court did not so hold. Rather, it concluded that the two statutes could be applied consistently and together in the same case without conflict:

[W]e disagree with Standard Microsystems' conclusion that sections 473, subdivision (b), and 1008 are in conflict. To the contrary, the statutes are complimentary. Section 473, subdivision (b) states the requirements of making a motion for relief from default in the first instance. It says nothing about second or subsequent motions made on the same grounds. That situation is governed by section 1008 for all renewed motions of every type, without exception. That a second or subsequent motion for relief from default based on attorney fault under section 473, subdivision (b) cannot be granted unless the requirements for renewed motions set forth in section 1008 are met does not mean that the statutes are in fatal conflict. That is simply the result of the statutes working together as the Legislature intended.

(Slip. Op. 19 (italics original).)

As discussed further below, the Court of Appeal's conclusion is entirely consistent with the fundamental principle of statutory construction that courts must harmonize statutory provisions, if possible, giving each provision full effect. *Cacho v. Boudreau*, 40 Cal.4th 341, 352 (2007).

C. The Holdings Of This Case And Standard Microsystems Are Reconcilable

The Court of Appeal here did not find Standard Microsystems

"persuasive." (Slip Op. 17.) Nevertheless, as discussed above, the

holdings of the two cases themselves are fully reconcilable even though in
reaching them the respective appellate courts employed different analyses

and came to different subsidiary determinations (e.g., whether sections 473(b) and 1008 are actually in conflict).

To reiterate, the Court of Appeal's holding in this case is that an indisputable full renewed section 473(b) motion is governed by section 1008(b). Standard Microsystems' holding is that a second 473(b) motion that at best may be deemed a renewed motion only in part as to a collateral matter is not barred by section 1008. These holdings may be applied consistently with each other. If confronted with a full renewed motion, a trial court could apply the holding of this case without undercutting Standard Microsystems (which, again, expressly did not address such a posture). Concomitantly, if a court were presented with the "partial" renewed motion scenario at issue in Standard Microsystems but not in the instant case, it could apply the rationale of Standard Microsystems, i.e., that the character of the second section 473(b) motion as a partial renewed motion does not render the entire motion subject to the requirements of section 1008(b) and does not bar a court's consideration of the second motion.

D. "Substantial Mischief" Will Not Ensue From The Holding Of This Case

Defendants assert that review is warranted because the purported conflict between this case and *Standard Microsystems* "threatens substantial mischief as courts and litigants are forced to guess which statute

governs." [Pet. 9, 20-21.] This argument is hyperbolic and falls under its own weight.

Sections 473(b) and 1008 have been on the books together for more than twenty years. In all that time, as defendants concede, there have been only *two* cases that have discussed the "interplay" (as defendants put it) between the two statutes—this case and *Standard Microsystems*. Given this history, the specter of a flood of new cases that defendants raise clearly will not materialize.

Defendants' speculation that "litigants [will be] forced to guess which statute governs" is also a red herring. No "guess" should ever be necessary, as a repeat Section 473(b) motion should rarely if ever be necessary. All a litigant need do, which was *not* done here, is to present a truthful, straightforward declaration of fault in the first instance, and one that establishes (as the statute requires) that the attorney's "mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or neglect" actually caused the default.

⁷ Defendants' assertion regarding the "frequency" with which litigants invoke one statute or other (see Pet. 9) is irrelevant. Indeed, defendants later admit there are only a handful of cases that have "addressed the interplay between section 473(b) and 1008(b)," and that other than this case only Standard Microsystems has considered the "interplay" in any meaningful way. (Pet. 10.) In fact, the other three cases defendants cite, Gilberd v. AC Transit, 32 Cal.App.4th 1494 (1995); Wozniak v. Lucutz, 102 Cal.App.4th 1031(2002), disapproved in part by Le Francois v. Goel, 35 Cal.4th 1094 (2005); and Lee v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A, 88 Cal.App.4th 1187 (2001), did not even involve repeat section 473(b) motions.

E. The Unique Facts Of This Case Also Militate Strongly Against Review

As discussed above, the factual composite of this case is unique. It is very rare that a default judgment is entered in the first place; even more rare that a motion for mandatory relief is denied as "not credible;" and rarer still for an attorney seeking relief from a default judgment to advance an untruthful explanation in an initial motion and then to present an "entirely different" story on a renewed motion that (even if true) could have been but was not presented before.

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